Brigham Young University Law School BYU Law Digital Commons

Utah Supreme Court Briefs (pre-1965)

1964

The State of Utah v. Robert Delaney: Brief of Appellant

Utah Supreme Court

STATEMENT OF THE KIND OF CASE

This is an indictable misdemeanor, automobile negligent homicide case brought under Utah Code Anno. 1953, 41-6-43.10.

DISPOSITION IN THE LOWER COURT

The jury returned a verdict of guilty. The trial Court denied the defendant's motions for judgment notwithstanding the verdict and for a new trial.

RELIEF SOUGHT ON APPEAL

The defendant seeks a reversal of the verdict of guilty and a remand with instruction to enter a judgment of not guilty notwithstanding the jury's verdict, and in the alternative, a remand with instruction for a new trial.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

A one car accident about midnight, March 2, 1963, in Cedar Canyon, about two miles west of Cedar City, Utah, claimed the life of one of four occupants of the automobile. The defendant was charged with and tried for automobile negligent homicide under Utah Code Anno. 1953, 41-6-43.10.

At the trial, Officer John R. Williams testified for the State that he had been an investigating officer at the scene of the accident. He described the location of the car and the body (Tr. 6). He testified that he and Officer William Burch made markings to identify skid and other marks (Tr. 11, line 2). He spoke of finding beer cans at the scene (Tr. 11, line 8) and said that one of the occupants of the car, not the driver, had stated to him that he guessed they had been racing a little (Tr. 6, line 20). He testified that he had previously said that he believed the defendant had not been drinking, and he testified, that there was no indication that the defendant had been drinking (Tr. 14, line 2, 9).

Officer William Burch also generally described the accident scene (Tr. 23, line 28). He testified that he and others made markings to show the course of travel of the automobile (Tr. 27, line 16). He testified that he

made no measurement that night (Tr. 29, line 3) but that he and Sergeant Robert Reid and Trooper Elroy Mason returned in the morning and made measurements (Tr. 29, line 15). He testified in detail and illustrated his testimony by use of a blackboard (Tr. 30 and following).

Officer Burch testified concerning a skid test conducted by him (Tr. 53, line 30) and concerning the grade of the road and the "super elevation" (bank of the curve) of the road (Tr. 55, line 14; Tr. 56, line 1, 18).

He testified that he made so-called "chord mark" and "middle ordinate" measurements of a scuff mark at the scene (Tr. 66, line 1). He then testified that from these measurements of the scuff mark he calculated the radius of the curve of the scuff mark to be 707 feet (Tr. 67, line 2).

Officer Burch admitted on cross examination that at the time of the preliminary hearing he testified that "I don't know that we even measured it," (Tr. 101, line 22) with reference to essential details about the measurements and their location. He did not have his notes about the measurements at the preliminary hearing nor did he ever subsequently find them (Tr. 140, line 1-7).

On redirect examination he testified that some time subsequent to the preliminary hearing "Sergeant Reid and Trooper Mason and I determined together that that was where we measured. It was just opposite the 50 foot mark" with reference to the chord mark and the middle ordinate measurements (Tr. 128, line 6) and "We remembered where we measured it" (Tr. 139, line 20).

The defendant's motion to strike the testimony concerning these measurements was denied by the Court, the Court commenting that he did not think the officer was fabricating, that that question was for the jury, but the evidence would be retained on the recollection refreshed theory (Tr. 140, line 24).

Mr. Ed M. Pitcher of the Utah State Highway Patrol was called as an expert witness. He was asked hypothetical questions based upon the factual assumptions in Officer Burch's testimony including the radius of the scuff mark, the results of the skid test, the grade of the road, the super elevation of the road and other factors (Tr. 247, line 11). He testified that under the facts assumed in the hypothetical question a car would have been traveling from 99.9 to 101 miles per hour (Tr. 252, line 17, 28). He testified that a difference in the facts would make a difference in the result. Such differences might concern the material of the road (Tr. 255, line 24), foreign substances on the road (Tr. 255, line 29), moisture conditions (Tr. 256, line 7), the chord mark measurement and its location (Tr. 259, line 27).

The defendant testified that he had had four beers over a period of time earlier in the evening Tr. 473, line 24; Tr. 475, line 15). However there was no evidence that he was or appeared to be intoxicated. Several witnesses, including Officer Williams, Officer Burch, Dr. Graff, Diana Lynn Miller, Melvin Douglas Clark, and Kendall G. Cosslett, testified that the defendant did not appear to have been intoxicated (Tr. 14, line 2, 9; Tr. 85, line 23; Tr. 80, line 22; Tr. 368, line 17; Tr. 435, line 12; and Tr. 465, line 17. 21).

Mr. Higbee, another occupant of the car, testified that he did have beer with him but that the defendant had only one sip from an already opened can at the start of the trip, but not more (Tr. 299, line 27).

A motion by the State that the jury be taken to view the premises was granted but the view was not actually taken until near the end of the defendant's case in rebuttal. Prior to taking the view, the Court indicated its intention to have Officer Burch or Trooper Mason point out marks and other things and locations that had been testified to (Tr. 445, line 4).

Although the defendant objected to this proposed procedure (Tr. 446, line 20), Officer Burch and the Court did accompany the viewing party to the premises (Tr. 447, line 11). The Court itself took charge of the view, commencing by describing the scene and commenting about "still visible" marks on the road, "paint or crayon" on the road (Tr. 447, line 6), pointing out various things, making comments, and conducting a detailed, repetitive interrogation-discussion review with Officer Burch of his prior testimony concerning the scene and measurements (Tr. 447 through 460).

The Court answered a juror's question (Tr. 451, line 20). Other jurors asked questions which were answered by Officer Burch (Tr. 453, line 4, 12; Tr. 454, line 14, 21, 27; Tr. 455, line 9, 15, 17, 19, 21) or by the Court with a request to Officer Burch for approval of the answer given by the Court (Tr. 451, line 20; Tr. 454, line 29).

The Court propounded at least fifty-two questions to Officer Burch (Tr. 447, through 460), many of which

were leading questions (Tr. 447, line 28; Tr. 448, line 6, 10, 15, 24, 28; Tr. 449, line 24, 28; Tr. 450, line 13, 26; Tr. 451, line 7, 11; Tr. 451, line 20; Tr. 452, line 9, 21, 24; Tr. 454, line 8; Tr. 454, line 29; Tr. 456, line 14, 19; Tr. 457, line 13, 29; Tr. 459, line 25) or included as part of the question or otherwise an observation of fact (Tr. 449, line 11; Tr. 451, line 20; Tr. 452, line 9, 17, 27, 29; Tr. 454, line 29; Tr. 456, line 14).

Counsel for the State took no part in the proceeding conducted by the Court at the viewing of the premises (Tr. 460, line 10, 13).

Counsel for the defendant repeated his objection at the end of the viewing and the Court undertook a cautionary instruction upon resumption of the proceedings in the courtroom (Tr. 462, line 1).

The defendant testified in his own behalf that just before the accident his speed might have been between 45 and 65 miles per hour (Tr. 484, line 18, 27); that just before the accident he started to speak to Mr. Higbee in the back seat about some records for the record player which was in the front of the car (Tr. 485, line 11); that he did not recall whether he had both hands on the steering wheel or had turned to Mr. Higbee (Tr. 485, line 20); but that he did not turn his head far enough to see Mr. Higbee (Tr. 486, line 3); and that he then heard gravel under the car and the accident occurred (Tr. 486, line 7).

He further testified that at the time he heard the gravel his speed was between 50 and 65 miles per hour (Tr. 489, line 2). He testified that when the car was

used for participation in supervised drag races it was specially tuned up and equipped (Tr. 489, line 21) but that it was not in that condition at the time of the accident (Tr. 490, line 1).

Mr. Higbee, one of the occupants of the car, testified that the automobile was not traveling at the rate Mr. Pitcher had estimated but that at the most it might have been up to 55 or 60 miles per hour (Tr. 280, line 22; Tr. 302, line 26).

Mr. Allen Brent Hatch, a witness in a passing car, estimated the speed of Mr. Delaney's car to be 70 at the highest (Tr. 317, line 2). His companion, Miss Sylvia Gale, testified that there was nothing unusual about the operation of the Delaney vehicle (Tr. 321). She doubted that it was traveling 70 miles per hour (Tr. 325, line 16) but did not think her companion necessarily wrong in his estimate (Tr. 325, line 24).

Mr. Gary Mackelprang, an occupant of a following vehicle. testified that he had made a statement that the defendant's automobile might have been going 70 miles per hour (Tr. 337, line 2), but his then testimony under cross examination by the State was that the speed could have been as high as 70 but he doubted it (Tr. 336, line 29.)

Diana Lynn Miller, the fourth occupant of the defendant's car testified that the defendant did not appear intoxicated (Tr. 368, line 19); that there was nothing unusual about his behavior (Tr. 386, line 17); that the operation of the vehicle seemed normal on the trip up the canyon (Tr. 375) and that there was no warning

or indication that the accident was going to happen (Tr. 378, line 21).

There was evidence that the posted speed limit on the road was 50 miles per hour (Tr. 68, line 28).

The jury found the defendant guilty. The Court denied defense motions for judgment at the close of the State's case, for judgment notwithstanding the verdict, and for a new trial.

The foregoing statement of facts mentions in brief form the substantive and procedural matters which the defendant deems pertinent to the disposition of this appeal. In so doing, however, it necessarily omits considerable evidentiary detail which can only be covered by recourse to the entire record.

ARGUMENT

POINT I. THE COURT'S PARTISAN PARTICIPATION IN THE ROLE OF PROSECUTING ATTORNEY AT THE VIEW, THE COURT'S AND OFFICER BURCH'S CONDUCT AT THE VIEW, THE COURT'S COMMENTS ON THE EVIDENCE AND THE POSSIBLE IMPRESSION THAT THE COURT WAS HOSTILE TO THE DEFENDANT OF HIS CONSTITUTIONAL RIGHT TO A FAIR TRIAL BY AN IMPARTIAL JURY.

The State's case depended upon proof of such speed as might constitute driving in reckless disregard of the safety of others. The State's case consisted of two stages. In the first, Officer Burch provided the factual foundation needed for an expert witness's opinion as to speed. In the second, Mr. Ed M. Pitcher provided the opinion as to speed.

Officer Burch testified as to all of the important clements of the foundation needed for the expert witness, including the skid test conducted by him, measurements and calculations by him, the grade of the road and the bank of the curve. The expert witness conducted no tests and made no measurements.

On cross examination Officer Burch conceded that at the preliminary hearing he had not remembered certain essential facts concerning the alleged measurements and even that he had then stated that he did not know if they had been measured (Tr. 101, line 23, 27). The Court expressed its opinion that Officer Burch was not fabricating but that this was up to the jury (Tr. 140, line 24).

Relying upon the factual foundation derived from Officer Burch's testimony, including the questionable measurements and calculations, the State's expert witness, Mr. Pitcher, estimated the speed of the automobile to be 99.9 to 101 miles per hour at the time of the making of the scuff marks.

Mr. Pitcher said that alteration of the facts assumed in the hypothetical question would alter the result. This included the skid test, road conditions, and particularly the cord mark measurements. From the chord mark measurements the radius of the arc of the scuff mark can be determined and this figure is used in calculating speed.

All of the elements used for the hypothetical question, and particularly the chord mark measurements and the calculations derived therefrom, were contested by the defendant. Their proof was an essential part of the State's case. The jury view of the premises was part of the State's attempt to prove its case.

The Court granted the State's request that the jury view the scene, indicating in so doing that it intended to have either Officer Burch or Trooper Mason point out marks and things at the scene. Despite the defendant's objection to this procedure, it was followed by the Court. Instead of appointing showers as required by Utah Code Anno. 1953, 77-31-31, the Court and Officer Burch served that function. The Court commenced with a general description of the scene referring to what he called still visible paint or crayon marks and to nails driven into the road. The Court conducted a lengthy interrogation-discussion with Officer Burch reviewing the testimony he had given in court concerning the physical evidence, markings, measurements and other details of the scene. The following Court-Burch discussion is typical (Tr. 447):

The Court: This is the point where the scuff mark or skid mark that you testified to in your testimony commenced, is that correct?

Burch: Yes.

The Court: Now, will you point out where it went from this point?

Burch: This is the point that it crossed the center line. (Indicating)

The Court: We are now at a point, as I recall, 60 feet from the initial point where you had marked with the red crayon, is that correct?

Burch: Yes, sir. That is correct.

The Court: And this is the point where the scuff mark or skid mark that crossed the original painted center line of the highway, and this is approximately 60 feet in an easterly direction, is that correct?

Burch: That's right.

The Court: And you have designated this by a nail driven into the yellow line?

Burch: That's right.

The Court: And it is visible at this point?

Burch: Yes.

The Court undertook to answer questions posed by jurors, requesting Officer Burch's approval of his answers. For example (Tr. 451, line 19):

Juror Irene Bryant: Is this the area that supposedly the car had hit the bank?

The Court: I'm under the impression, and if you gentlemen who investigated this could correct me, but where the gravel first came out on the road — that is large quantities of it, was where the car hit the bank and it knocked the gravel out onto the road; and that was down where we were just talking about. Is that correct, Officer Burch?

Burch: Yes.

Another example (Tr. 454, line 14):

Juror Meeks Dalton: I'd like to ask the distance from here to where the car left the road on the opposite side from where it started.

The Court: You mean left the road on the north side?

Juror Dalton: Yes.

The Court: Well —

Juror Dalton: Where it tipped on its top.

The Court: Well, you are asking before it tipped on its top. Now Officer Burch, down where it tipped on its top — this is something I don't recall there was testimony given about.

Burch: I don't know exactly on it top, no.

The Court: Apparently it slid for some distance on its top, Mr. Dalton, and where it tipped and went on its top, you wouldn't know, would you?

Burch: Not exactly, no.

Utah Constitution, Article I, § 12, states:

In criminal prosecutions the accused shall have the right . . . to have a speedy public trial by an impartial jury. . . .

Utah Code Anno. 1953, 77-31-31, provides:

[Q]uestions of law are to be decided by the court, and questions of fact by the jury; . . .

The law is clear on several basic propositions dealing with the right of an accused to an impartial jury trial of the facts of his alleged offense. The jury shall be the sole trier of facts. People v. Biddlecome, 3 Utah 208, 2 Pac. 194 (1882); State v. Bayes, 47 Utah 474, 155 Pac. 335 (1916); State v. Green, 89 Utah 437, 57 P.2d 750, 755 (1936) (dicta); State v. Green, 78 Utah 580 6 P.2d 177 (1931); State v. Thatcher, 108 Utah 63, 157 P.2d 258 (1945).

It is equally well established that the judge shall not comment on the evidence. State v. Green, 78 Utah 580, 6 P.2d 177 (1931); State v. Gleason, 86 Utah 26, 40 P.2d 222 (1935) (dicta); State v. Greene, 33 Utah 497, 94 Pac. 987 (1908); State v. James, 32 Utah 152, 89 Pac. 460 (1907).

The credibility of witnesses is a question solely for the jury. State v. Diaz, 76 Utah 463, 290 Pac. 727 (1930); State v. Green, 89 Utah 437, 57 P.2d 750 (1936) (dicta).

Although not always error, allowing the jurors to ask questions is properly frowned upon. State v. Martinez, 7 Utah 2d 387, 326 P.2d 102 (1958); State v. Anderson, 108 Utah 130, 158 P.2d 127 (1945).

The intimate, partisan, detailed participation by the Court at the scene as though he were the prosecuting attorney rather than the judge could only result in the jury's minds in such an association of the judge with the State's case and its key witness, upon whose credibility and accuracy the entirety of the State's case depended, as would invariably give the impression that the Court favored the witness and believed his testimony. This we believe to be substantial, fundamental error, for while it may be proper for the Court to ask questions in appro-

priate cases, it is manifestly improper for the Court to usurp the functions of counsel. State v. Green, 89 Utah 437, 57 P.2d 750 (1936) (dicta); People v. Rigney, 10 Cal. Rptr. 625, 359 P.2d 23 (1961) (dicta); People v. Robinson, 4 Cal. Rptr. 50 (1960); Hunter v. United States, 62 F.2d 217, 220 (5th Cir. 1932).

Extended interrogation cannot fail but to give an impression of belief or disbelief, depending on the circumstances. As this court explained in *State v. Green*, at page 755:

It is generally held that in the exercise of his right to question a witness, the judge should not indulge in an extensive examination or usurp the function of counsel. In a criminal case he should not by form of question or manner or extent of examination indicate to the jury his opinion as to the guilt of the defendant or the weight or sufficiency of the evidence. Note, 84 A.L.R. 1172; . . . His examination should not be extensive because it is a matter of much difficulty for any person to indulge in an extensive examination of the witness without indicating a train of thought or some feeling with respect to the truth or falsity of the testimony being elicited. . . .

Counsel for the State did not need the Court's able assistance for their conduct of their case was thorough, professional and competent. State v. Crotts, 22 Wash. 245, 60 Pac. 403 (1900) held it error for the Court to take over the examination of a witness and to ask leading questions when the counsel for the State was doing a capable job, for the reason that:

[I]t is a fact well and universally known by courts and practitioners that the ordinary juror is

always anxious to obtain the opinion of the court on matters which are submitted to his discretion, and that such opinion, if know to the juror, has a great influence upon the final determination of the issues. This information can be conveyed as readily to the jury by leading questions asked of them, and the manner of the judge in asking such questions, as by a direct comment upon the testimony in the charge to the jury.

The recent case of *People v. Robinson*, 4 Cal. Rptr. 50, (1960) held that it was error for the Court to take over the duties of the district attorney in the questioning of witnesses for in so doing he gives the jury the impression that he as allying himself with the prosecution with inevitable harm to the defendant being the result.

Other instances at the trial add to the cumulative effect of the Court's partisan participation. For example, the Court's comment that he did not think Officer Burch was fabricating his testimony with reference to the contested chord mark and middle ordinate measurements would serve to indicate credibility of the witness in the opinion of the Court (Tr. 140, line 24). At another point the Court expressed belief in the testimony of the witness concerning the air pressure in the tires of the automobile (Tr. 131, line 27).

And, immediately after the State commenced its cross examination of the defendant by asking the following question and getting the following answer:

Question: With respect to your automobile, Mr. Delaney, isn't it a fact that it had a standard four-speed transmission in it?

Answer: Yes, it did. But you could order one from the factory.

the court interjected:

Mr. Delaney, he didn't ask you if you could order one. He asked you what your car had. It is true that people can buy anything. Just answer the questions that are asked you. Go ahead, Mr. Gardner. (Tr. 491, lines 5-13)

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