Brigham Young University Law School BYU Law Digital Commons

Utah Supreme Court Briefs (pre-1965)

1964

The State of Utah v. Robert Delaney: Brief of Respondent

Utah Supreme Court

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

ARGUMENT

POINT I

THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT EVIDENCE ANY BIAS OR PREJUDICE BY ASKING QUESTIONS OF A PROSECUTION WITNESS WHICH WERE MERELY FOR CLARIFICATION AND AN AID AT ASCERTAINING THE TRUTH AND UNDERSTANDING THE EVIDENCE.

The appellant argues that the trial judge deprived the appellant of a fair trial by interrogating a witness for the state and thus evidencing a bias and prejudice toward the appellant. The conduct which the appellant claims prejudiced him occurred after all the state's evidence had been presented and after most of the independent evidence of the defense had been received. During the course of the state's evidence, Officer William Burch of the Highway Patrol was called as a witness (T. 22). He testified as to physical evidence at the accident scene (T. 27), the position of the appellant's vehicle (T. 27), and the course and path that the vehicle followed, which he said

could be clearly followed (T. 28). He testified as to measurements he made with respect to the vehicle's path (T. 31, 32, 34). A diagram of the path of the vehicle was made by Officer Burch on the courtroom blackboard (Exhibit D-1). Officer Burch's testimony, along with that of Guy D. Neilson of the State Highway Department (T. 177, etc.), provided a basis for a hypothetical question to an expert who placed the appellant's speed at 99.9 to 101 miles per hour, at the minimum, at the time of the accident (T. 252).

The appellant was agreeable to a view of the accident scene (T. 441, 443). The court admonished the jury twice that they were not to engage in any unauthorized communication (T. 445, 446). Thereafter, the sheriff, counsel, the accused and the jury went to the scene of the accident. Officer Burch was also present with the reporter (T. 447). The court asked Officer Burch to point out the landmarks and physical features to which he had previously testified in court. Not one of the questions in any way reflected any bias or prejudice on the part of the trial judge (T. 447-460). Appellant in no way points out any question or series of questions which could be said to evidence any bias or prejudice or be unfairly couched toward the prosecution. No objection, based on a claim of bias or prejudice of the trial court, was ever raised below. In addition, the appellant's counsel asked some questions of the witness (T. 453, 454, 456, 457, 458). The only action of the court during the course of the trial which the appellant complains indicates prejudice (Brief p. 16) was an admonition to the appellant not to volunteer where an answer he gave in response to a prosecution question was non-responsive (T. 491). This did not occur during the view and was proper where the witness was going afield. In contrast to the appellant's contention, the record shows the court attempted to protect the appellant from prejudice at one point in the trial by restricting the prosecution from going into a description of the gruesome scene at the accident, where it was repetitious (T. 39). In addition, the court sustained defense motions to strike (T. 180) and excluded the results of appellant's blood test, apparently because of a claimed failure of chain of custody. This ruling was extremely favorable to the appellant and was a very severe interpretation of the chain of custody requirements. Nichols v. McCoy, 38 Cal. 2d 447, 240 P. 2d 569; Wharton's Criminal Evidence, Vol. 2, p. 509, etc. (T. 207, etc.) These facts, when viewed against the whole record, and the accommodating sentence imposed (R. 40-43) clearly refute a claim that the trial judge was in any way biased or prejudiced, or that his questions to Officer Burch, which were for the purposes of clarifying the evidence (T. 456, Line 5), in any way unfairly treated the appellant. Additionally, after returning from the accident scene, the court sua sponte instructed the jury (T. 461):

"The Court: The record should show that the defendant is present with his attorney and the Jury is in the box. I believe the record should show further that we have now returned to the Courtroom from our excursion up Cedar Canyon, or I guess it is Cedar Canyon, isn't it, Gentlemen? Anyway, the canyon east of Cedar, in any event, to view the scene of the accident with which

we are here concerned. Ladies and Gentlemen of the Jury, so there will be no misunderstanding. while we were at the scene of the accident for the purpose of providing you with a view of this accident scene, and not with any idea of intention of persuading your minds one way or the other by the Court and by that I mean the Judge, myself, attempted to with the assistance of Officer Burch to elicit information as to the points which are some of them being indicated on the chalk outline on our blackboard there. I would want you to have no idea that the Court was in any manner attempting to influence your thinking or your view of the situation in any particular. What I would think about this case as to the facts is entirely immaterial. It is your decision and your decision alone which will govern as to the factual situation. I would want you to have no idea that I was attempting to either persuade you one way or the other, for or against the State or the defendant or in anywise by my questions or by my attempts to assist Officer Burch in pointing these items out to you. I want to make that very clear to you that in no way was I attempting to influence you at any point in our excursion up there, nor during the course of the trial, because you are the triers of the facts."

It should also be noted that no motion for mistrial was made at the time of the viewing, nor did the appellant's motion for new trial cite the present claim as a basis for new trial (R. 38).

The general rule as to the power and duty of the trial court to examine witnesses or call for evidence is stated in Abbott, *Criminal Trial Practice*, § 323:

"The judge may in his discretion interpose of his own motion to call out legal evidence by

interrogating a witness under examination, or to call a witness who should be called by the prosecution. But it is error in so doing to express opinions prejudicial to the accused or indicate to the jury his opinion as to the merits of the case of the credibility or weight of the evidence."

It is not a basis to complain that the trial court's examination is extended unless it becomes overbearing and assumes the role of an advocate. Gordon v. Irvine, 105 Ga. 144, 31 S.E. 151. The court has an obligation to see that the evidence is fully developed or is comprehendible by the jury. People v. Rongetti, 331 Ill. 581, 163 N.E. 373; Wharton's Criminal Evidence, § 842. Generally, "whether or not the court shall question a witness and the extent of its examination are within its sound discretion." Wharton's Criminal Evidence, § 842, p. 213.

In State v. Gleason, 86 Utah 26, 40 P. 2d 222 (1935), a similar objection was made to that raised in the instant case. The court noted:

". . . No objection is made that the questions asked by the court elicited testimony that was incompetent, irrelevant, or immaterial, or were otherwise improper if such questions had been asked by counsel for either side. The basis of the objection is that the trial judge ought not to have examined the witnesses at all, and that in asking the question the judge indicated an opinion with respect to the credibility of the witnesses examined, or, perhaps, as to the defendant's guilt, all to defendant's prejudice before the jury."

This court went on to find that no prejudice resulted from the judge's questions to several witnesses and stated:

> "The conduct of a trial is to a large extent under the control and within the discretion of the trial judge who should preside with dignity and impartiality. He is more than a mere referee or moderator. State v. Keehn, 85 Kan. 765, 118 P. 851. He should not express, or otherwise indicate, an opinion as to the credibility of the witness or the guilt of the defendant. Such matters are exclusively for the jury. The practice is well established for the trial judge, within reasonable bounds, to ask questions of any witness who may be on the stand for the purpose of eliciting the truth, or making clear any points that otherwise would remain obscure. 16 C. J. 831: People v. Reid, 72 Cal. App. 611, 237 P. 824. It is generally held that in the exercise of his right to question a witness, the judge should not indulge in extensive examination or usurp the function of counsel. In a criminal case he should not by form of question or manner or extent of examination indicate to the jury his opinion as to the guilt of the defendant or the weight or sufficiency of the evidence. Note 84 A.L.R. 1172; 28 R.C.L. 587. His examinations should not be extensive because it is a matter of much difficulty for any person to indulge in an extensive examination of the witness without indicating a train of thought or some feeling with respect to the truth or falsity of the testimony being elicited. His attitude should at all times be fair and impartial so that neither by tone of voice, facial expression, nor manner of propounding a question is bias shown which may prejudice the defendant's right to a fair and impartial trial. A trial judge is within his rights in asking questions for the purpose of eliciting the

truth or to clear up an obscurity. People v. Jenkins, 118 Cal. App. 116, 4 P. (2d) 799. But in doing so, sincerity and fairness should characterize his every word and action."

The court determined that the questioning there, which is not far removed from that in the instant case, was not prejudicial.

A similar result was reached in *State* v. *Green*, 89 Utah 437, 57 P. 2d 750 (1936). See also *State* v. *Kallas*, 97 Utah 492, 94 P. 2d 414 (1939).

In People v. Rigney, 55 Cal. 2d 234, 10 Cal. Rep. 625, 359 P. 2d 23 (1961), the California Supreme Court recognized the general rules set out above by the Utah court and noted:

"Although the judge questioned defendant and Doctor Brandmeyer at great length 'the mere fact that the judge examined * * * at some length does not establish misconduct.' People v. Corrigan, supra, 48 Cal. 2d 551, 559, 310 P. 2d 953, 958; People v. Montgomery, supra, 47 Cal. App. 2d 1, 18, 117 P. 2d 437."

In that case the court noted as to the facts:

"In the present case the trial judge, over defendant's objection, examined him extensively as to events immediately preceding the shooting, interrupting the deputy district attorney's cross-examination to do so. The judge questioned defendant closely to clarify inconsistencies between his testimony on the stand and statements he had previously made. After defendant was excused as a witness and Doctor Brandmeyer was about to take the stand, the judge recalled defendant and once again questioned him as to his memory of the shooting. After defendant had been excused

a second time and before Doctor Brandmeyer's examination began, the parties retired to chambers for a conference." [At which conference the judge told defense counsel he disbelieved his client, the accused.]

The California Supreme Court found no impropriety warranting reversal. It declared:

"* * * A careful examination of the record convinces us that the judge's questions were not a guise for conveying to the jury the court's disbelief in defendant's evidence but were asked to get the truth established, and that they fairly and impartially brought out relevant and material testimony. Moreover, the judge instructed the jury that any intimation in his questions or the questions of counsel that certain facts were or were not true must be disregarded, and he adequately instructed them that they were the exclusive judges of the effect and value of the evidence."

In the instant case, the court did not transmit any indication of his beliefs to the jury. His questioning was directed towards clarifying and making understandable the testimony as to physical evidence offered by Officer Burch. This is a proper action. This limited participation by the court, coupled with his admonition against drawing inferences, obviously did not result in prejudice. Especially is this clear from a full reading of all that occurred during the long trial.

POINT II

THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT COMMIT ERROR IN THE MANNER OF CONDUCTING THE VIEW OF THE SCENE OF THE CRIME.

The appellant makes a scattergun attack to the effect that the court erred in the manner in which the view of the accident scene was conducted. The specific nature of the appellant's objection is not pinpointed, but generally it may be said that appellant contends that 77-31-26. Utah Code Annotated 1953, was violated. This section provides:

"When in the opinion of the court it is proper that the jury should view the place in which the offense is alleged to have been committed, or in which any other material fact occurred, it may order the jury to be conducted in a body, in the custody of an officer, to the place, which must be shown to them by a person appointed by the court for that purpose; and the officer must be sworn to suffer no person to speak or communicate with the jury, nor do so himself, on any subject connected with the trial, and to return them into court without unnecessary delay, or at a specified time."

The statute is directory in nature. First, it leaves the matter of the view in the discretion of the trial judge. Secondly, it requires that a person be appointed to act as custodian of the jury. Third, the officer must be sworn against unauthorized communication. In the instant case the appellant consented to the view of the accident scene (T. 441, 443). No objection was raised in the trial court to the judge being present when the view occurred. No objection was or is made that the jury was not properly in the custody of the sheriff, indeed the custodian was in charge of the jury.

Nothing in 77-31-26, U.C.A. 1953, specifies that the judge may not accompany the jury. It would be a difficult situation if the judge could not view the accident scene but was still called on to appraise the evidence as against motions attacking its legal sufficiency. It is difficult to see in what manner this could in any way prejudice the accused. In State v. Clow, 215 Minn. 380. 10 N.W. 2d 359 (1943), the Minnesota Supreme Court indicated that not only was it proper for the trial court to allow the view, it was equally proper for him to point out to the jury objects at the locus in quo to better enable the jury to understand the testimony. Although the court reversed, it did so because of the failure to provide a reporter's transcript to show what actually occurred. In the instant appeal, all that occurred was a matter of record.

The appellant places reliance on State v. Mortensen, 26 Utah 312, 73 Pac. 562 (1903), for the proposition that the court erred in accompanying the jury. There is no merit to appellant's contention. That case considered only the question of the presence of the accused, and did not consider the presence of the judge. The court merely quoted from a Kansas case on the necessity of the accused's presence, which case had mentioned that under Kansas procedure, the judge remains in the courtroom. Further, since no objection to the judge being present was voiced, the Mortensen case would support a conclusion of waiver. Finally, no reasonable justification can be shown why the judge should not also view the scene, nor can any demonstration be made as to how that factor

could prejudice the accused. Specific prejudice must arise from the view. State v. Shaw, 59 Utah 536, 205 Pac. 339 (1922); 77-42-1, U.C.A. 1953. A number of cases have expressly ruled that an accused has the right to have the judge present at the viewing and that his absence may be error. Anno., 47 A.L.R. 2d 1227; 53 Am. Jur., Trial, § 446; Anno., 42 L.R.A. 381.

Secondly, the appellant seems to contend that the court erred in receiving evidence at the scene. Nothing in Section 77-31-26, U.C.A. 1953, prohibits the court from conducting a hearing at the scene in order to allow the jury to better understand the evidence. The cases cited by the appellant on the question of the power or propriety of the trial court receiving evidence at the viewing reflect one line of authority. However, there is an equally impressive line supporting the trial court conducting a hearing at the scene. Thus, in 23 C.J.S., Criminal Law, § 986, p. 994, it is stated:

"According to other authorities, however, the purpose of the view is to supply evidence, and the information received by taking the view constitutes evidence to be considered by the jury the same as any other evidence introduced in the case. Under this theory it is proper to receive explanatory evidence during the taking of the view."

The landmark case on the conduct of a viewing from the standpoint of due process of law is Snyder v. Massachusetts, 291 U. S. 97 (1934). In that case the court ordered that the jury view the places material to the charge under consideration — murder. The viewing by

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